IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIE A. BROWN, and LARRY TROY,

Appellants,

vs.

APPEAL NUMBERS 64,802 64,803 69,427

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT BROWN

Patrick D. Doherty 619 Turner Street Clearwater, Florida 33516 (813) 443-0405

Philip J. Padovano Post Office Box 873 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-3636

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT BROWN

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Throughout this brief the record has been referred to by the following abbreviations:

R: Record on Appeal (Volumes I through III)

T: Trial Transcript (Volumes I through V)

PT: Transcript of Penalty Phase

ST: Transcript of Sentencing Hearing

MNT: Transcript of Motion for New Trial

RCN: Pleadings in the Coram Nobis Proceeding

TCN: Transcript in the Coram Nobis Proceeding

In view of certain ambiguities in the system employed to prepare the record, the Defendant has referred to all transcripts by the number assigned by the Court Reporter and not the number assigned by the Clerk. Several depositions were included in the record and these have been cited individually by the name of the deponent.

The appellants, Willie Brown and Larry Troy, have been referred to as the Defendants, and the Appellee, State of Florida, has been referred to as the State.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Earl Owens, a white inmate at Union Correctional Institution, was stabbed to death on July 7, 1981. the following day a black inmate, Willie Brown, was placed in administrative confinement where he remained for about seventeen months. The Union County Grand Jury returned an indictment on October 14, 1982 (R-1) charging Brown with first degree murder in connection with Earl Owen's death.

Numerous pretrial motions were filed on behalf of Willie Brown and his codefendant, Larry Troy. These include a motion for change of venue (R-731), a motion to prohibit the systematic exclusion of death scrupled jurors or blacks (R-470-472), and motions to dismiss (R-264) and to discharge for prejudicial preindictment delay. (R-264) The trial judge conducted a series of hearings and ultimately denied each of the defense motions.

The case proceeded to trial before Circuit Judge John J. Crews on June 13, 1983. During the trial the defense attorneys sought to exclude the testimony of a State's witness on the ground that the witness had refused to answer questions at a defense deposition, and upon the further ground that the State attorney had obtained an undisclosed tape-recorded statement from the witness more than a week before the trial. The trial Judge rejected these arguments and allowed the witness to testify.

The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged against both Brown and Troy, and at the conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury recommended to the Judge that he sentence each of the

Defendants to death. Judge Crews accepted the recommendation and sentenced Brown and Troy to death on June 22, 1983. The Defendant's motion for new trial was denied on December 27, 1983 (R-920), and this appeal was timely filed on January 25, 1984. (R-933,936)

During the pendency of the appeal before this Court, certain evidence came to light regarding the conduct of the jury, and the Defendants filed a request for leave to file a petition for writ of error coram nobis. This Court authorized the Defendants to seek coram nobis relief in the trial Court and temporarily stayed the direct appeal.

An application for writ of error coram nobis was filed in the Circuit Court on May 11, 1986. Following and evidentiary hearing on the application, the trial Judge entered an order discharging the writ. A separate appeal was filed with respect to that order and the two appeals were later consolidated for review by this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Α.

The Trial

The victim, Earl Owens, had been an inmate at the Union Correctional Institution prior to his death on July 7, 1981. Dr. William Hamilton, the District Medical Examiner, testified that Owens died as a result of multiple stab wounds and cuts. (T-311) As Dr. Hamilton explained, the injuries were such that Owens must have been stabbed within a very short time before his death, probably not more than ten minutes. (T-331,332,338)

Frank Wise, one of the principal witnesses for the State, testified that he observed the Defendants coming out of the victim's cell at approximately 5:00 p.m. on the day of the homicide. (T-343) Wise explained that he was in the process of obtaining materials to make some homebrew wine and that he had gone up to B-floor to get some sugar from one of his friends. (T-343) The inmate he was to obtain the sugar from was not in his cell at that time, so Wise decided to wait for him. He stood at the head of the stairs for about five minutes and then heard some noises which he assumed to be either a homosexual rape or beating. (T-345) The noises appeared to be coming from the cell of the victim, Owens.

There was a blanket above the cell door of the victim's cell and Wise started over toward the cell to look in. (T-345) At that point, Wise thought better of the idea of getting involved, so he backed up toward the head of the stairs. (T-345) During

the time that Wise was standing there, inmates Singleton and Claude Smith came upstairs and proceeded over to the "high side" of B-floor. (T-345) A few minutes after that, Wise observed two men he identified as the Defendants Troy and Brown coming out of the cell. (T-346)

When Troy and Brown emerged from the cell, Wise gave them a signal indicating that there was no one in the area. (T-346) He explained that he did that because he knew that the men had done something wrong. (T-346) According to Wise, Troy and Brown then passed by him and proceeded downstairs to the barbershop. (T-348) Wise did not notice any blood, nor did he notice whether the defendant had a weapon. (T-347,348)

On cross examination Wise admitted that he had previously made a different statement in which he had sworn that he could not identify the men who came out of the cell. (T-377) He also concluded that he had written some letters to the Defendants wherein he accused them of attempting to slander his name. (T-386, R-359-362) Finally, he declined to admit or deny the correctness of a deposition statement wherein he said that he hoped the Defendants got the chair whether they were guilty or innocent. (T-403)

Inmate Herman Watson was called to the witness stand by the State and he related certain conversations he had with the Defendants. Watson said that the Defendant Troy told him that he had just "killed the cracker." (T-437) According to Watson, Troy made an additional remark that he "might be going to jail."

(T-438) The Defendant Willie Brown did not make any statement about the homicide directly, but Watson said that he did ask him to "check with the bald head" about whether he "did get rid of the clothes and stuff." (T-441) Watson admitted on cross-examination that he sometimes hears voices and noises that make his nerves real bad. (T-483) He conceded the possibility that the voices and the noises had caused him to recount the statements he attributed to the defendants. (T-487)

Over the objection of defense counsel, the State was permitted to call Claude Smith who also gave testimony to the effect that he saw Troy and Brown coming out of the victim's cell on the day of the homicide. Smith testified that a few minutes after 5:00 p.m. on July 7, 1981, he was heading toward his cell on the high side of B-floor (T-535,536), he passed Frank Wise, who was standing by the doorway at the entrance to B-floor, and as he started around to the right side of the floor, he heard noises coming from the cell. (T-536,541) At that time two inmates, identified by Smith as Troy and Brown, came out of the cell. (T-537)

Smith testified that he followed the two black males down the stairs into the shower area. (T-536,538) He then started back upstairs where he encountered a white inmate who had been stabbed trying to make his way down the stairs. (T-538) Smith said he helped the white inmate until the stretcher bearers came to take him to the hospital. (T-544,546)

Roy Weiland, a correctional officer, received word about 5:45 p.m. that there was an injured inmate at the clinic. (T-614) He proceeded to the clinic and had a brief opportunity to speak with the victim Owens before he expired. Owens reportedly told Weiland, "two blacks stabbed me, one tall and slender, one short and slender." (T-606,607) He was unable to say who they were or where they worked. (T-617)

Another correctional officer named Mitchell Anderson testified that on the morning after the stabbing incident, he was on the athletic yard and that he found a bucket containing a shirt and other personal items which had been partially burned. (T-506) Anderson could not say exactly how long the bucket had been there (T-509,510), and although an analysis of the shirt revealed the presence of human bloodstain, the tests performed by an FDLE serologist were otherwise inconclusive. (T-565)

Donald Conner, the laundry manager at UCI, testified that his records showed that as of August 3, 1981, inmate Willie Brown was missing a set of clothes. (T-511-513) He acknowledged, however, that it is hard to keep track of inmate clothing, and that clothing is lost, stolen, or misplaced at the prison in a number of different ways. (T-514) He admitted also that he did not have any personal knowledge as to whether Brown was missing any clothing. (T-515,516)

The Defendants called a series of witnesses who contradicted various portions of the prosecution's case. The first was William Thompson, a Court Reporter who contradicted Frank Wise's

version of his own deposition. (T-649) Wise testified that he had told attorney Mazar that he was going to lie in the deposition. Thompson never heard any such remark.

Lieutenant Lee was recalled to the stand by the defense to establish that Frank Wise's initial story had been that he didn't know who committed the murder (T-659), and that it was only later that he had changed that story to implicate the Defendants.

The next witness the defense called was Eric Fisher, a licensed private detective who was present when prosecution witness Herman Watson said his head was full of noises which made him tell lies. Watson had said everything he'd told Investigator Sands was a lie. (T-685)

Noel White Testified that he heard noises coming from cell 3 where the homicide occurred. He saw two black men exit the cell and they were not the Defendants, Brown and Troy. (T-695,700) Furthermore, he testified that neither Wise nor Smith was in the area at the time the black men exited the cell. (T-697)

Eric Fisher was recalled to testify that he had participated in an interview of Noel White in South Carolina and that White had been promised nothing. (T-719)

Franklin Kelly testified for the defense that he had gone to dinner early accompanied by Larry Troy, and as they came out of dinner, Kelly noticed blood from the victim on the bench and wall. (T-733,734)

John Allen, an inmate who knew both the victim and Larry Troy was called to the stand. Allen testified that Owens, the decedent, had his hair cut on several occasions by Troy and certainly knew him and would have been able to identify him as "Scuffy Ray". (T-742)

Adrian Howard testified that at the time Frank Wise claimed to be witnessing the murder he was, in fact, in a cell getting high. (T-748)

Michael Madry further disputed the prosecution's version by stating that he saw the Defendant, Willie Brown, coming out of dinner at the same time the decedent was coming down the stairs bleeding. (T-761-763)

The defense rested at that point, and the prosecution called two rebuttal witnesses. First, the State called D.L. Cochran to dispute Noel White's testimony. According to Cochran, White had previously identified the defendants as the black men he saw exit the decedent's cell. (T-791) Furthermore, White had threatened to lie on the stand unless a deal was made according to Cochran.

The second rebuttal witness was H. Edward Sands who claimed to have shown Noel White an entire photo lineup instead of the two photographs Noel White described. (T-799-800) According to sands, Noel White identified the defendants. (T-801,802)

The Coram Nobis Proceeding

The testimony and evidence presented on the defendants' motion for writ of error coram nobis, consisted primarily of the testimony of five of the jurors who served during the trial.

Marvin Seay testified that he spoke with Virginia Snyder, an investigator working for the Defendants, and that he gave her a sworn statement concerning his experience as a juror. In the affidavit, Seay made the following statements: "I was convinced after the first day of the trial that the individuals were guilty," and "other members of the jury were also thinking like me, that the two individuals were guilty." (Seay Affidavit, TCN-58) During the hearing, Seay testified that he did not actually make the statement he swore to in the affidavit (TCN-64), and that he did not remember whether the other jurors formed an opinion of guilt before the end of the trial. (TCN-62) He acknowledged that he signed the affidavit, and that Ms. Snyder did not pressure him in any way to sign it (TCN-58), but explained that he did not read it carefully. (TCN-59,60).

Another juror, Anita Thomas, testified that she gave the jury certain information she acquired as an employee of another correctional institution. Thomas told the jury that, as a matter of practice, the white inmates had their hair cut by white barbers, and the black inmates had their hair cut by black barbers. (TCN-81) The significance of this information is that the Defendant Troy is a barber and one of the defense witnesses

testified that the victim was in the barbershop participating in a conversation with Troy on the day of the homicide. (T-741,742) Ms. Thomas' out-of-court information served to rebut the testimony of the defense witness, and to explain why the victim could not identify the Defendant Troy.

Anne Hendricks verified that another juror, possibly Anita Thomas, had explained that the white inmates did not ordinarily get their hair cut by black barbers. (TCN-46) She stated that the question came up about the barbers because the white victim's cell was right by the barber shop where one of the Defendants worked. (TCN-51) Evidently, there was a question as to why the victim did not identify the defendant who was a barber.

Juror Florence Wilson was called as a witness and she recounted certain remarks by another juror prior to the advisory verdict in the penalty phase proceeding. First, Ms. Wilson identified an affidavit she had given to investigator Snyder and verified that she had in fact, signed the affidavit. (TCN-22,23) In her affidavit Wilson said that, "one of the female jurors stated that she had spoken with her minister about which sentence to recommend." In response to that inquiry the minister was said to have articulated the proverb, "if you live by the sword, you die by the sword." The juror then explained that "she voted for the death penalty because after talking with her minister she thought it was the right thing to do." (Wilson Affidavit)

At the hearing, Ms. Wilson verified the essence of her affidavit and disavowed only the statement that the female juror

had actually voted for the death penalty as a result of the conversation with her minister. (TCN-32) She acknowledged that the remarks were made to the jury, and that the woman said that she had spoken to her minister. (TCN-26)

Deborah Taylor, the juror who was the subject of Ms. Wilson's testimony, verified that she did actually speak with her minister after the guilty phase of the trial, and before the penalty phase. (TCN-72) Taylor denied, however, that she was seeking the pastor's advice and maintained that he merely told her to pray and that she would then come to the right decision. (TCN-75)

Finally, the defense called Virginia Snyder, who testified that she has been a licensed private investigator for ten years. (TCN-101) Ms. Snyder identified her own affidavit incorporating the essence of each of the other affidavits she obtained from the jurors. (TCN-104) She testified that all of the jurors she questioned had a full opportunity to read the affidavits before signing them. (TCN-107)

The State did not present any testimony or evidence at the hearing.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the first point, the defendant Brown contends that the trial judge erred in failing to conduct a hearing on certain violations of the discovery rules. Claude Smith, a crucial witness for the State, was allowed to testify at trial even though he refused to testify at a defense deposition, and even though the prosecutor failed to disclose the fact that Smith had given the State a tape recorded statement more than a week before trial. Since these acts and omissions constitute violations of the discovery rules, the trial court was obligated to conduct a hearing to determine the existence of prejudice to the defense. The failure to conduct such a hearing is reversible error.

Second, the defendant Brown contends that the trial judge erred in denying his application for writ of error coram nobis. The general argument in support of this contention is that the evidence presented at the post-trial hearing demonstrated the existence of misconduct on the part of certain jurors, and that the trial judge therefore abused his discretion in denying coram nobis relief. Serious acts of misconduct on the part of several jurors are detailed in the text of the argument. As an example, one juror admitted that she provided the jury certain information she learned out of court. The information in question served to rebut the testimony of an important defense witness and to provide an explanation for the reason the victim did not identify the defendants in his dying declaration.

The third point involves a claim that the trial court erred in denying his motion to prohibit the systematic exclusion of blacks from the jury. This claim requires a reversal for an evidentiary hearing since all of the peremptory challenges were made during unreported side bar conferences. The defendant's conviction and sentence cannot stand upon a silent record since the reviewing court has an independent duty to review the entire record of proceedings in capital cases.

Fourth, the defendant contends that the sentencing of black males to death for homicides of white victims is disproportionate from other death sentences and is therefore violative of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. This claim has been made to preserve the argument in light of the fact that the issue is pending before the United States Supreme Court. The defendant Brown recognizes that this Court has rejected arguments of this nature in the past.

The argument in the fifth point demonstrates that a change of venue was necessary in order to protect the defendant's basic right to a fair trial. Although the matter of venue in criminal cases is discretionary, the evidence presented at the hearing clearly established the unfairness of trying the case in Union County where such a large percentage of the population is employed by the Department of Corrections. In view of the evidence presented at the hearing, the trial judge abused his discretion in denying the motion for change of venue.

In the sixth point, the defendant has catalogued a number of unnecessary and improper remarks the trial judge made in the presence of the jury. As explained more fully in the argument itself, these remarks were derogatory and often sarcastic comments directed at the defendant's trial attorney. The cumulative effect of these comments was to deprive the defendant of his right to a fair trial.

The seventh and eighth points present violations of the right to speedy trial under the Sixth Amendment and the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure respectively. The constitutional argument is based upon evidence demonstrating that the defendant irrevocably lost his opportunity to present a meaningful defense as a result of his seventeen-month administrative confinement. The remaining argument involves a claim that the administrative confinement triggered the commencement of the speedy trial time under the Rules of Criminal Procedure.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN ALLOWING UNDISCLOSED TESTIMONY OF A STATE'S WITNESS WITHOUT FIRST CONDUCTING AN INQUIRY INTO THE CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE STATE'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE DISCOVERY RULES

In this case the trial Judge allowed the State to present critical inculpatory testimony by a witness who had refused to answer any questions at a defense deposition, and who had given the prosecution a tape-recorded statement which was not disclosed to the defense prior to trial. The Court's acceptance of this testimony, over the objection of the defense, constitutes reversible error under <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971) because the trial Judge failed to make any inquiry as to whether the discovery violations prejudiced the defendants in the preparation of their case.

On January 13, 1983, counsel for the Defendant Troy attempted to take the deposition of Claude Smith, a witness listed in the State's discovery response. Counsel asked Smith twice if he had observed an individual around B-floor by the name of Frank Wise, but each time Smith remained silent. (Smith Depo. p.4) When the defense counsel asked Smith if he was refusing to answer the question, Smith asked to speak privately with Assistant State Attorney, Tobin. After a brief recess, Tobin made the following statement for the record:

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