IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIE BROWN

and

LARRY TROY,

Appellants,

vs.

CASE NOS BY 64

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOHN W. TIEDEMANN Assistant Attorney General The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0290

FE8 58 1867

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Appellants' novel legal theories are interesting, to say the least, but they are wholly inapplicable to this case, for the testimonies of Wise and Smith were, in the main, mutually consistent and also consistent with the remainder of the State's case. As noted, Wise testified that he was on the B-Floor of U.C.I. shortly before 5:00 p.m. on the afternoon of the murder when he heard a groan emanating from Owens' blanket-draped cell and paused to observe the situation, during which time he saw Smith pass by. Smith compatibly testified to the same basic turn of events, albeit that he fixed the time at shortly after 5:00

Wise further testified that he next saw appellants emerge p.m. from the victim's cell carrying a towel or a shirt with something wrapped in it; he did not notice any blood on appellants and did not believe Smith could have witnessed their departure from the ultimately equivocated on both scores. testified, not necessarily inconsistently, that he appellants departing the cell and that they did have blood on them. Both Wise and Smith agreed that appellants then headed downstairs, albeit that the former believed they went into the barbershop while the latter thought they went into the shower Testimony by other State witnesses tended to establish that it was "not impossible" that Owens had been stabbed 30 minutes before he arrived at the inmate clinic between 5:30 -5:45 p.m. and died shortly after claiming that two blacks had stabbed him; that appellant Troy laughingly confided to Herman Watson that he'd "just killed the cracker" and expected to be confined for it; that appellant Brown later asked Watson to see that someone got rid of his clothes and shoes, which Watson apparently did; and that appellant Brown's bloody shirt and a towel were thereafter found charred in a wash bucket and his shoes found recently rinsed.

Assuming quite arguendo that the testimonies of Wise and Smith were inherently inconsistent, it would not follow that the State failed to present "substantial, competent evidence to support the verdict[s] and judgment[s]" under Tibbs v. State, 397

So.2d 1120, 1123 justifying appellants' outright discharges, notwithstanding their contention to the contrary. In the State's view the Tibbs requirement that a guilty verdict must be based "substantial competent evidence" means only that each element of the offense charged must have been proved to the satisfaction of the jury by admissible evidence, regardless of how allegedly "weak" it may retrospectively appear. See Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986); Toole v. State, 472 So.2d 1174 (Fla. 1985); Lincoln v. State, 459 So.2d 1030 (Fla. 1984); Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 710 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, U.S. , 83 L.Ed.2d 237 (1984); Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 461 U.S. 909 (1983). In Tibbs itself, this Court affirmed a rape conviction which "rested primarily upon the uncorroborated testimony of the rape victim," Id., 397 So.2d 1120, 1126. This Court has moreover held that a defendant accused of murder "may be convicted upon the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice," Peterson v. State, 117 So. 227 (Fla. 1928), see also Downs v. State, 386 So.2d 789 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 976 (1980) and Barfield v. State, 402 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1981), while the Third District has held that the evidently uncorroborated testimony of a single witness that the defendant committed the crime charged was sufficient despite a demonstrable inaccuracy, Stuckey v. State, 199 So.2d 137 (Fla. 3rd DCA It follows that the State's presentation of even inherently contradictory incriminating testimony

witnesses can constitute ample proof of guilt under <u>Tibbs</u>, and would not be cause for an outright discharge.

Perhaps realizing that their prospects of selling this Court on the foregoing argument are thin, appellants alternatively and forthrightly ask that the Court recede from Tibbs and essentially establish an ad hoc rule that appellate courts may order criminal if the testimony appellants discharged upon which convictions were predicated is, in the eyes of the appellate court, unbelievable despite the jury's finding to the contrary. The criminal defense bar has indeed enjoyed some recent success in convincing the district courts of appeal to adopt such a standard, albeit circuitously, see e.g. Huggins v. State, 453 So.2d 835 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), review denied, 456 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 1984); Robinson v. State, 462 So.2d 471 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), review denied, 471 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1985); Fox v. State, 469 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), review denied, 480 So.2d 1296 (Fla. 1985); and Fowler v. State, 492 So.2d 1344 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), review denied (Fla. 1987), Case No. 69,432. The reasons against affording the appellate judiciary such power, implicit in both this Court's decision in Tibbs and in the dissents of Judge Cowart in Huggins and of Judge Booth in Fox, were perhaps best expressed by the Supreme Court of Missouri many years ago when it wrote that a live observer. . . .

. . . sees and hears much we cannot see and hear. We well know there are things of pith that cannot be preserved in or shown by the written page of a

bill of exceptions. Truth does not always stalk boldly forth naked, but modest withal, in a printed abstract in a court of last resort. She oft hides in nooks and crannies visible only to who tries the case. To [the finder of fact] appears the furtive glance, the of conscious shame, hesitation, the sincere or the flippant sneering tone, the heat, calmness, the yawn, the sigh, candor or lack of it, the scant or full realization of the solemnity of an the carriage and mien. oath, The brazen face of the liar, the glibness of the schooled witness in reciting a lesson, or the itching overeagerness of the swift witness, as well as honest face of the truthful one, are alone seen by [the finder of fact]. short, one witness may give testimony that reads in print, here, as if falling from the lips of an angle of light, and yet not a soul who heard it, nisi, believed a word of it; another witness may testify so that it reads brokenly and obscurely in print, and yet there was that about witness that carried conviction truth to every soul who heard him testify. Therefore, where an issue in equity rests alone on the credibility of witnesses, the upper court may with entire propriety rest somewhat on the superior advange of [the finder of fact] in determining a fact.

<u>Creamer v. Bivert</u>, 113 S.W. 1118, 1120-1121 (Mo. 1908).

Appellants also alternatively asks this Court to order them new trials under Fla.R.App.P. 9.140(f) "in the interest of justice" even though <u>Tibbs</u> implies that this rule should only be so employed "to correct fundamental injustices, <u>unrelated</u> to evidentiary shortcomings." <u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1120,

1126. The State trusts that this Court will also decline this invitation to overrule Tibbs.

Appellants finally in the alternative essentially ask this Court to reduce their death sentences to life imprisonment, in consideration of the perceived weaknesses in the evidence, in the exercise of its proportionality review, see e.g. Caruthers v. State, 465 So.2d 496 (Fla. 1985). If the Court does so it will be effectively granting appellants a "free kill" insofar as, from all appearances, they were U.C.I. "lifers" before murdering Owens. The State's research did not reveal any cases wherein this Court has found death sentences imposed based upon four statutory aggravating factors and no mitigating factors disproportionate. As for appellants' claim that "no man should be put to death on this kind of evidence" ("Initial Brief of Appellant Larry Troy," p. 73), they elected to commit the murder with fellow inmates rather than guards witnessing the crucial events. What right do appellants have to insist that the witnesses against them come from backgrounds better than their own?

ISSUE VII

(Appellant Brown's Point Six; Appellant Troy's Issue IV)

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT REVERSIBLY ERR BY FAILING TO DECLARE A MISTRIAL SUA SPONTE DUE TO HIS ALLEGEDLY SARCASTIC TREATMENT OF DEFENSE COUNSEL.

ARGUMENT

As noted, this cause was originally assigned to Union County Circuit Judge R. A. Green Jr., but he disqualified himself on April 12, 1983 upon motion of the defense alleging apparent bias, and was then replaced by Circuit Judge John J. Crews. during trial did either appellant allege, either by motion for a mistrial, a motion to strike, or even a garden contemporaneous objection, that they had been prejudiced by Judge Crews' purported sarcasm towards defense counsel in front of the jurors, and such allegation was conspicuously absent in their motions for new trials. Yet now, appellants essentially allege that the trial judge committed a seventh reversible error by failing to declare a mistrial sua sponte due to his allegedly abusive treatment of defense counsel, and that they are entitled to a new trial as a result. The State disagrees.

Appellants' failure to contemporaneously challenge the allegedly untoward conduct of the judge below absolutely precludes fruitful litigation of the matter upon appeal, insofar as the purported "error" was clearly "not such as to undermine the fundamental fairness of the trial and contribute to a mis-

carriage of justice," United States v. Young, 470 U.S. __, 84 L.Ed.2d 1, 13 (1985); cf. Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982).² Judge Crews did not appeal to racial prejudice, accuse counsel of unethical conduct, or even remotely imply that he felt their clients were guilty. Compare Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45 (1932); Mathews v. State; and Roberson v. State, 24 So. 474 (Fla. 1898). Absent a defense objection and consequent development of the record, this Court is in no position to ascertain whether the judge's remarks were sarcastic appellants claim, or perhaps wry, jocular, benignly chiding, or even merely earnest, as appears possible; this Court should assume the best of the judge below, not the worst. Lucas v. State, 376 So.2d 1149, 1152. Off the cold record, it appears to the State that this judge did nothing more egregious than occasionally urge defense counsel to steamline their presentations, which was certainly his judicial prerogative. Blake<u>v.</u> State, 336 So.2d 454, 455 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976), cert. denied, 344 U.S. 323 (Fla. 1977); Baxley v. State.

In sum, appellants have woefully failed to establish that Judge Crews conducted himself in a reversibly erroneous manner.

Appellants may seek to excuse their default by claiming that they were too intimidated by the judge to object and/or that such would have been a futility given his alleged intransigence. Any claim that counsel was intimidated is belied by their successful dispatching of Judge Green, and the alleged futility of objecting does not excuse the failure to try. Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107, 130 (1982).

ISSUE VIII

(Appellant Brown's Point Two; Appellant Troy's Issue III)

THE JUDGE BELOW PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR WRIT OF ERROR CORUM NOBIS DUE TO ALLEGED JUROR MISCONDUCT.

ARGUMENT

Again with much misguided passion, appellants adamantly allege that the judge below committed his final reversible error by denying their petition for writ of error corum nobis due to the purported misconduct of their jurors; they seek a new trial as a result. For the four alternative reasons which follow, the State vigorously disagrees.

I. PROCEDURAL DEFAULT

As noted, the defense on June 22, June 24, June 27, July 4 and July 15, 1983 timely filed motions for new trials or directed verdicts. These motions did not include alleged juror misconduct as grounds for relief and were never amended to encompass same prior to their denials by Judge Crews on December 22 and 27. While their direct appeals were pending, someone connect with appellant Brown - apparently neither his lawyers nor himself - retained private investigator Virginia Snyder approach appellants' jurors and gather evidence of their purported misconduct; although why or even if the defense suspected these jurors of misconduct has never been explained. The defense lawyers thereafter relied upon the fruits of Ms.

Snyder's labors and those of her colleague, Esther Litchenfields, to petition this Court in early 1985 for leave to file a petition for writ of error corum nobis with the trial court on grounds of alleged juror misconduct. This Court determined that appellants' allegations should be initially passed upon by Judge Crews, and relinquished jurisdiction for this purpose on March 27, 1986. Brown v. State.

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.600(b)(2) and (4) provide in pertinent part that "[t]he [trial] court shall grant a new trial if . . the jury received any evidence out of court . . . [or if] any of the jurors was guilty of misconduct . . . [and] substantial rights of the defendant were prejudiced thereby." See, e.g., State v. Ramirez, 73 So.2d 218 (Fla. 1954), McGowan v. State, 102 So. 890 (Fla. 1925), Powell v. State, 414 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) and White v. State, 462 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), review denied, 472 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 1985). Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.590(a) provides in pertinent part that "[a] motion for new trial . . . may be made within ten days after the rendition of the verdct or the finding of the court . . . [, and] may be amended to state new grounds... before the motion is determined." If appellants had sought to amend their motions for new trial on December 28, 1983 by incorporating allegations of juror misconduct, Judge Crews would have had no choice but to have refused to consider such allegations as untimely filed. See, e.g., Hogwood v. State, 175 So.2d 817 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1965). As the State urged below, the

procedurally defaulted nature of these allegations was vitiated merely because they came before the lower court in an "application for corum nobis relief" filed on May 11, 1986, a fact Judge Crews recognized in denying appellants relief on August 25. The reason that appellants' presumably competent trial counsel, Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689-691 (1984) failed to preserve this claim by including it in their motions for new trials - and the State strongly suspects it was the ethical proscription against attorneys approaching jurors without prior leave of court, as will be explained more fully in due course - is simply not germane at this point. Unless this Court's rules of criminal procedure do not mean what they say, appellants are in irrevocable procedural default on their claim that they are entitled to new trials by virtue of the alleged misconduct of their jurors.

The State would respectfully request that this Honorable Court hold that appellants are in procedural default upon this without proceeding to reach the merits alternative. As the Court surely knows, many of the criminal defendants whose claims it rejects continue litigation in the federal courts by filing petitions for writ of habeas corpus under 28 U.S.C. § 2254, recasting their claims as federal constitutional violations. Ιf this Court has rejected defendant's claim sub silentio, as it occasionally does, or has affirmed in writing totally upon procedural grounds, a federal

reviewing court is required to regard such affirmance as an acceptance of any procedural default argument the State has made vis-a-vis a given claim, and cannot award federal habeas corpus relief thereupon. See Martinez v. Harris, 675 F.2d 51 (2nd Cir. 1982); Hockenbury v. Souders, 620 F.2d 111 (6th Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 450 U.S. 933 (1981); Brown v. Reid, 493 F.Supp. 101 (S.D.N.Y. 1980). If this Court has affirmed in a written opinion upon both procedural and substantive grounds, a federal reviewing court may or may not regard such action as an acceptance of the State's procedural default arguments, compare Hall v. Wainwright, 733 F.2d 766 (11th Cir. 1984), cert. denied, U.S. , 85 L.Ed.2d 862 (1985) with Smith v. Wainwright, 777 F.2d 609 (11th Cir. 1985), cert. denied, ____ U.S. ____, 91 L.Ed.2d 565 (1986); however, if the Court has ignored or rejected the State's procedural default arguments and has proceeded to reach the merits of a given claim, a federal reviewing court is definitely entitled to reach the merits of that claim and award relief thereupon, see County Court of Ulster County, New York v. Allen, 442 U.S. 140 (1979); Henry v. Wainwright, 686 F.2d 311 (5th Cir. 1982), vacated on other grounds, 463 U.S. 1223 (1983); Booker v. Wainwright, 703 F.2d 1215 (11th Cir. 1983); Thompson v. Estelle, Therefore, this Court should 642 F.2d 996 (5th Cir. 1981). protect the integrity of its judgments by basing same upon either unwritten implicit or written explicit acceptance of the State's procedural default arguments whenever legally possible, as it certainly is here.

II. PUBLIC POLICY

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